RECEIVED

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

Aug 26 2021

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Marvin H. Dukes, III, Master in Equity

Appellate Case No. 2021-000139

Case No. 2020-CP-07-0112

Eric Greenway, as Agent for Beaufort County.....Appellant,

v.

Beaufort County Zoning Board of Appeals, Robert Sample, Jr., and Ballpark  
Place, LLC.....Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

s/Benjamin T. Coppage  
Benjamin T. Coppage  
Coppage Law Firm, LLC  
SC Bar # 100055  
Post Office Box 2473  
Beaufort, South Carolina 29901  
Telephone: 843-379-9601  
E-mail: ben@coppagelawfirm.com  
*Attorney for the Appellant*

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL**

- I. The trial court erred by taking additional evidence that was not in the record on appeal.**
  
- II. The trial court erred in finding that there was evidence that reasonably supported the Decision of the Beaufort County Zoning Board of Appeals and in finding that the Decision was not arbitrary, was not unreasonable, and the Zoning Board of Appeals did not abuse its discretion.**
  
- II. The trial court erred in finding that a parcel of real property which is improved for the placement of fewer than three manufactured homes and on which only one home site is leased is designated as Manufactured Home Community, as defined by Section 106-1098, Code of Ordinances for Beaufort County, Zoning and Development Standard, Supp. No. 24.**

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

### **I. Procedural History**

On January 20, 2020, Eric Greenway, the Director of the Beaufort County Department of Community Development, as agent for Beaufort County (hereinafter “Appellant”), filed a Petition for Appeal from the Beaufort County Zoning Board of Appeals (hereinafter “Petition”) in the Beaufort County Court of Common Pleas appealing a Decision of Respondent Beaufort County Zoning Board of Appeals (hereinafter “ZBOA”) dated November 22, 2019 which overturned a decision of the Director of the Beaufort County Department of Community Development and found that the use of real property owned by Respondent Ballpark Place, LLC (hereinafter “Ballpark Place”) as a manufactured home community was a lawfully existing legal nonconforming use under the relevant ordinance. The matter came before the Honorable Marvin H. Dukes, III in the Court of Common Pleas on August 6, 2020. The Court of Common Pleas issued an Order Denying and Dismissing Appeal (hereinafter “Order”) on October 6, 2020 which upheld the decision of the ZBOA.

On October 16, 2021, the Appellant filed a Motion for Reconsideration of the Order. Judge Dukes denied the Motion for Reconsideration in a Form 4 Order dated January 26, 2021. This appeal followed by Notice of Appeal dated February 1, 2021.

### **II. Statement of the Facts**

#### **A. History of the Property and Applicable Zoning Ordinances**

This matter concerns real property located on Ball Park Road, Saint Helena Island, South Carolina (hereinafter the “Property”). In the past, there were multiple manufactured homes located on the Property and the Property was used as a Manufactured Home

Community.<sup>1</sup> Pursuant to the applicable zoning ordinances at the time, as set out in the Code of Ordinances for Beaufort County in Chapter 106, Zoning and Development Standards (hereinafter the “Old Code”), a Manufactured Home Community was defined, in pertinent part, as “[a] parcel of land planned and improved for the placement of three or more manufactured homes for use as residential dwellings where home sites within the development are leased to individuals who retain customary leasehold rights.”<sup>2</sup> Manufactured Home Communities were permitted for limited use under the Old Code in areas zoned Rural.<sup>3</sup> The Property was zoned Rural under the Old Code.

From 2009 to the time of the filing of the Petition, there had been at least one continuously occupied manufactured home located on the Property.<sup>4</sup> The address of this manufactured home was 89 Ball Park Road.<sup>5</sup> However, there is no evidence that there has been more than one manufactured home located on the Property since July 2013 and there is no evidence that there has been more than one manufactured home actually rented on the Property since May 2011.<sup>6</sup> Respondent Robert Sample (hereinafter “Sample”) has acknowledged that Ballpark Place’s predecessor in title divested itself of all but one mobile home on the Property.<sup>7</sup> There is nothing in the record that reflects that more than one site on the Property was improved for the placement of a manufactured home since 2013, at the latest.<sup>8</sup> There is evidence that three sites on the Property were connected to electricity

---

<sup>1</sup> R. pp. 32–38, 172–179.

<sup>2</sup> Code of Ordinances for Beaufort County, Sec. 106-1098 (as amended by Ord. No. 2014/2, 1-13-2014)

<sup>3</sup> *Id.*

<sup>4</sup> R. pp. 40–56, 110–160.

<sup>5</sup> *Id.*

<sup>6</sup> *See generally*, R. pp. 76–181.

<sup>7</sup> R. pp. 58, 67–68, 180–181.

<sup>8</sup> R. pp. 32, 172, 179. The Rent Roll for 2013 indicates that several of the sites are “Vacant.” A generous interpretation of this designation would be that, if the sites were vacant, they could be filled. However, no such evidence exists for subsequent years.

until 2016 but only two sites have been connected to electricity since May 2016.<sup>9</sup> The only evidence in the record concerning the Property for the year 2017 is that there was one manufactured home on the Property, that manufactured home was leased, and there were electric connections for that manufactured home and one other site. The only evidence in the record concerning the Property for the year 2018 is that there was one manufactured home on the Property, that manufactured home was leased, and there were electric connections for that manufactured home and one other site.

From November 16, 2010 until May 30, 2019, the Property was owned by CSB Property Management II, LLC.<sup>10</sup> CSB Property Management II, LLC conveyed the Property to Ballpark Place on or about May 30, 2019.<sup>11</sup> Sample represents that he is the holder of the entirety of the membership interest in Ballpark Place.<sup>12</sup> In that capacity, Sample wished to use the Parcels as a manufactured home park.<sup>13</sup> To effect that wish, Sample had contractors and representatives of local utilities visit the parcels to identify the underlying infrastructure.<sup>14</sup> However, he made no repairs or other upgrades to the property.<sup>15</sup>

### **B. Adoption of the CDC and Applicability Thereof**

The Community Development Code of Beaufort County (hereinafter “CDC”) was adopted by the County Council of Beaufort County on December 8, 2014 and supplanted the Old Code.<sup>16</sup> With the adoption of the CDC, the Property was zoned T2 Rural

---

<sup>9</sup> R. pp. 72–73, 162–163, 169–170, 202–203.

<sup>10</sup> R. pp. 165–166, 210–211.

<sup>11</sup> *Id.*

<sup>12</sup> R. pp. 163–164, 171, 204; R. pp. 58, 67–68, 180–181.

<sup>13</sup> *Id.*

<sup>14</sup> R. pp. 62, 83, 197.

<sup>15</sup> *Id.*

<sup>16</sup> *See* Beaufort County Ordinance 2014 / 36

(hereinafter “T2R”). Manufactured Home Communities are not a permitted use in T2R zones.<sup>17</sup> However, uses established before the adoption of the CDC which do not conform to the CDC’s terms and requirements, but which were properly permitted and legally established at the time of their establishment, are known as Legal Nonconformities under the CDC.<sup>18</sup>

A legal nonconforming use may be continued on a parcel if that use is not abandoned.<sup>19</sup> However, “[i]f a nonconforming use is abandoned for a period of one year or longer, it shall not be reestablished and shall only be replaced with a conforming use.”<sup>20</sup> The burden of establishing that a nonconformity lawfully exists is the responsibility of the owner of the land on which the nonconformity is located.<sup>21</sup> The Director of the Beaufort County Department of Community Development (hereinafter “DCD”) is charged with determining whether a legal nonconforming use has been abandoned for a period of one year or longer.<sup>22</sup> In determining whether the use has been abandoned for more than one year, the Director must consider “all of the facts and circumstances regarding the nonconforming use, including, but not limited to the following:

1. If steps have been taken by the property owner to resume the nonconforming use;
2. If utility services such as water, gas, and electricity to the property have been disconnected;
3. If equipment or fixtures necessary for the operation of the nonconforming use have been removed;
4. If signs advertising the nonconforming use have been removed;

---

<sup>17</sup> CDC § 3.1.60

<sup>18</sup> CDC § 10.1.140

<sup>19</sup> CDC § 8.2.40(A)

<sup>20</sup> *Id.*

<sup>21</sup> CDC § 8.1.30

<sup>22</sup> CDC § 8.2.40(B)

5. If business licenses for the nonconforming use have expired or not been renewed;
6. If activities generally associated with the nonconforming use are no longer observed on the property; and
7. Other actions which, in the opinion of the Director, demonstrate an intention on the part of the owner to abandon the nonconforming use.”<sup>23</sup>

**C. Determination of Abandonment of Legal Nonconformity**

In July and August of 2019, Sample sent emails to Greenway, in Greenway’s capacity as Director of the DCD, seeking a determination as to whether the Property’s use as a Manufactured Home Community had been abandoned.<sup>24</sup> In a responsive email to Sample dated August 14, 2019, Greenway stated that he, Greenway, had reviewed historical aerial photographs of the Parcels and saw no verifiable evidence that multiple homes had been located on the property for use as residences.<sup>25</sup> Also in that email, Greenway informed Sample that actual proof of the Property’s use as a manufactured home park was necessary.<sup>26</sup> On August 26, 2019, Sample emailed copies of rent rolls for the sites on the Property which confirmed that there had been only one mobile home rented on the parcels since June 2011.<sup>27</sup> Sample never provided any evidence that more than one mobile home had been rented on the Parcels since June 2011.

Greenway undertook a review of the information provided by Sample and other pertinent information, including without limitation the Property’s electric service history and rent rolls, historic aerial photographs, and tax records in order to determine whether

---

<sup>23</sup> CDC § 8.2.40(B)

<sup>24</sup> R. pp. 58, 67– 68, 180–181; R. pp. 72, 169, 202.

<sup>25</sup> R. pp. 67, 180.

<sup>26</sup> *Id.*

<sup>27</sup> R. pp. 168–179.

the Property's use as a Manufactured Home Community had been abandoned.<sup>28</sup> In applying the considerations set out in CDC § 8.2.40(B) to the years 2017 and 2018, the information in Greenway's possession showed that, for those years: there was no information concerning steps that had been taken by the property owner to resume the nonconforming use, electricity had been disconnected from all but two sites, only one site was fully connected to utilities, there was no information concerning whether equipment or fixtures necessary for the operation of the nonconforming use had been removed, there was no information concerning whether signs advertising the nonconforming use had been removed, there was no information concerning whether business licenses for the nonconforming use had expired or not been renewed, activities generally associated with the nonconforming use were no longer observed on the property, and that the current state of the Property tended to show that its use as a Manufactured Home Community had been abandoned for a considerable amount of time. In other words, there was no information pertaining to two full calendar years which would tend to show that the Property's use as a Manufactured Home Community had been continued during that time.

On September 24, 2019, Greenway communicated his determination to Sample in an email which stated that "insufficient evidence exists . . . in order to establish this property as a legal non-conforming mobile home park" and that, therefore, the Property's use as a Manufactured Home Community had been abandoned.<sup>29</sup> In that email, Greenway also informed Sample that the email constituted an "official written determination and must be appealed within 30 days of receipt of this email."

---

<sup>28</sup> R. pp. 75, 167.

<sup>29</sup> *Id.*

#### **D. Appeal of Greenway's Determination to the ZBOA**

On October 24, 2019 Sample filed an Application for Appeals with the ZBOA. The ZBOA is authorized to serve as the appellate body for decisions on interpretations of all provisions of the CDC.<sup>30</sup> Appeals of an administrative agent are solely based on the materials available to the agent rendering the initial decision and advisory bodies prior to the decision and the ZBOA cannot consider new or altered plans.<sup>31</sup> The ZBOA must base its decision solely on the record of the appeal, as supplemented by arguments presented at the public hearing.<sup>32</sup> The CDC limits the ZBOA's findings in an appeal to the following:

- a. The decision-maker made an error in determining whether a standard was met. The record must indicate that an error in judgment occurred or facts, plans, or regulations were misread in determining whether the particular standard was or was not met;
- b. The decision-maker made the decision based on a standard not contained in this Development Code or other appropriate County ordinances, regulations, or state law, or that a standard more strict or broad than the standard established in this Development Code was applied. (This Development Code does not allow administrative decision-makers to consider or create standards not officially adopted); or
- c. The decision-maker made an error in applying a standard or measuring a standard.<sup>33</sup>

The Application for Appeals stated that Sample was appealing Greenway's determination that "the legal nonconforming use of a mobile home park had been

---

<sup>30</sup> CDC § 7.3.70.B.1.e.

<sup>31</sup> CDC § 7.3.70.C.5.

<sup>32</sup> CDC § 7.3.70.C.6.(a)

<sup>33</sup> CDC § 7.3.70.D.1.c.

abandoned for a period of one year or longer.”<sup>34</sup> The Application for Appeals claimed that the determination by Greenway was in error because it was arbitrary and capricious and was contrary to the explicit provisions of the CDC.<sup>35</sup> Sample asserted that Greenway ignored the language of the CDC and applied a “non-existence (*sic*) ‘burden of proof’ to [Sample’s request].”<sup>36</sup>

Sample’s appeal was heard by the ZBOA on November 21, 2019. During the hearing, the ZBOA considered (1) the arguments from Greenway and from counsel for Ballpark Place and Sample, (2) testimony from Sample, and (3) the documents contained in the Record on Appeal from page 88 to page 181. The ZBOA acknowledged that there had only been one manufactured home and one resident on the Property since at least 2013, as shown on the rent rolls.<sup>37</sup>

Sample testified that the extent of his work on the property had been “poking around trying to find [the] infrastructure.”<sup>38</sup> When asked how many home sites on the property were in suitable repair for usage, Sample acknowledged that the use of the Property as a Manufactured Home Community had been abandoned. He stated “The stands have to be repaired. When the previous owner removed the homes, they messed up the stands.”<sup>39</sup> Sample also acknowledged that over the preceding several years, he thought that there had been fewer than two home sites occupied.<sup>40</sup> There was no evidence presented during the hearing by Sample or otherwise which indicated that more than one mobile home or more than one space on which a mobile home could be placed had been available

---

<sup>34</sup> R. p. 100.

<sup>35</sup> R. p. 105.

<sup>36</sup> *Id.*

<sup>37</sup> R. pp. 64, 85, 199.

<sup>38</sup> R. pp. 62, 83, 197.

<sup>39</sup> R. pp. 64, 85, 199.

<sup>40</sup> *Id.*

for rent during the several years preceding the hearing. No additional information was provided concerning the use of the Property during 2017 and 2018.

The ZBOA asked Greenway if the Property was a parcel of land planned and improved for the placement of three or more manufactured homes for the use as residential dwellings.<sup>41</sup> Greenway stated that there was no evidence of the same.<sup>42</sup> The ZBOA then asked Greenway if the Property still met the definition of a Manufactured Home Community as defined by the Old Code.<sup>43</sup> Greenway stated that there was no evidence that it did.<sup>44</sup>

The ZBOA then moved (1) to overturn the determination that the pre-existing legal nonconforming use was abandoned for more than one year and (2) to decide that the Property would remain as an existing legal nonconforming use for a mobile home park.<sup>45</sup> The motion was seconded and approved.<sup>46</sup> The ZBOA issued a written decision (hereinafter the “ZBOA Decision”) that stated that Sample’s appeal was granted and was based on the following findings:

- 1) The property continued to have pads available for rent and thus met the requirement of the former statute of the use of the property.
- 2) There was no interruption in the legal, pre-existing, non-conforming use.<sup>47</sup>

---

<sup>41</sup> *Id.*

<sup>42</sup> R. pp. 65, 86, 200.

<sup>43</sup> *Id.*

<sup>44</sup> *Id.*

<sup>45</sup> *Id.*

<sup>46</sup> *Id.*

<sup>47</sup> R. pp. 26, 79, 193.

### **E. Appeal of the ZBOA Decision**

Greenway sought to overturn the ZBOA Decision on the grounds that its findings were arbitrary and unsupported by the evidence because they had no basis in the record of the appeal from Greenway's determination. In the Petition and during the hearing on the Petition, Greenway argued that, in order for Ballpark Place to meet the burden imposed by CDC § 8.1.30 and establish that the Property's use as a Manufactured Home Community lawfully existed, it would have been necessary for Ballpark Place to provide Greenway with information which showed that, without having been abandoned for a year or longer, (1) the Property was planned and improved for the placement of three or more manufactured homes for residential use **and** (2) more than one site on the Property was leased.<sup>48</sup> Greenway argued that the information considered by Greenway in making his determination and the record considered by the ZBOA showed that (1) the improvement of the property for the placement of three or more manufactured homes had been abandoned since 2016, at the latest, and (2) since 2011, only one site on the Property had actually been leased.

On July 31, 2020, counsel for the ZBOA filed a *Return of Beaufort County Zoning Board of Appeals to Appellant's Petition for Appeal from the Beaufort County Zoning Board of Appeals*. On August 5, 2020, counsel for Ballpark Place and Sample filed a *Return of Robert Sample, Jr. and Ballpark Place, LLC to Appellant's Petition for Appeal from the Beaufort County Zoning Board of Appeals*. With few exceptions, these returns were identical and will be referred to hereinafter as the "Returns." Much of the material

---

<sup>48</sup> R. p. 21; R. pp. 245–246, ll. 9-22.

contained in the Returns, on which the Respondents also relied during the hearing, was inaccurate and unsupported by the record, including the following:

- a. “The parcels . . . presently contain nine improved sites intended for the placement of manufactured homes.”<sup>49</sup>
- b. “Currently, the parcels have access to water, sanitary sewer, and electricity.”<sup>50</sup>
- c. “Additionally, several of the sites continued to have active electrical service and only required electrical meters for active service.”<sup>51</sup>
- d. “Upon the purchase of the Park, Mr. Sample began work to prepare all the sites for the continued placement of manufactured homes.”<sup>52</sup>
- e. “Mr. Sample verified that utilities were still connected, such as sanitary sewer available to each site through functioning septic systems, and water available to each site via a well in the Park.”<sup>53</sup>
- f. “Mr. Sample also verified that electrical utilities were available to each site and functioning, and that the stands required to place new manufactured home were functional or repairable.”<sup>54</sup>
- g. “All sites were available for lease for home sites, with one site continually being leased by Mr. Pope.”<sup>55</sup>
- h. “Mr. Sample indicated the only issue with the sites was the condition of the ‘stands’ for the placement of incoming homes, which could be easily repaired.”<sup>56</sup>
- i. “However, the Park continued to operate and address any repair issues.”<sup>57</sup>
- j. “Mr. Sample testified that each of the sites had currently operating water supplies provided by an onsite well system, and sanitary sewer was provided to each site via functioning septic systems.”<sup>58</sup>

---

<sup>49</sup> R. p. 182

<sup>50</sup> *Id.*

<sup>51</sup> R. p. 184

<sup>52</sup> *Id.*

<sup>53</sup> *Id.*

<sup>54</sup> R. pp. 184-185

<sup>55</sup> R. p. 185

<sup>56</sup> R. p. 188

<sup>57</sup> R. p. 189

<sup>58</sup> *Id.*

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