THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

**RECEIVED**

**Aug 26 2021**

APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

**SC Court of Appeals**

The Honorable Marvin H. Dukes, III, Master-in-Equity

Appellate Case No. 2021-000139

Case No. 2020-CP-07-0112

Eric Greenway, as Agent for Beaufort County, ..... Appellant,

v.

Beaufort County Zoning Board of Appeals, Robert Sample, Jr., and Ballpark Place, LLC, .....  
..... Respondents.

**JOINT FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS  
BEAUFORT COUNTY ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS,  
ROBERT SAMPLE, JR., AND BALLPARK PLACE, LLC**

Bradley A. Mitchell, Esquire  
BRAD MITCHELL LAW, LLC  
SC Bar No.: 78228  
Post Office Box 30206

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

## ARGUMENTS

### **I. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY INTERPRETED THAT THE MANUFACTURED HOME COMMUNITY USE DID NOT REQUIRE THREE OR MORE HOME SITES TO BE ACTIVELY LEASED**

The threshold issue is whether the Old Code definition of Manufactured Home Community requires a minimum of three mobile home sites to be actively leased. The Board and the Circuit Court correctly interpreted that there is no requirement to have a minimum of three mobile home sites be leased to qualify as a Manufactured Home Community.

“The primary rule of statutory construction is that the [c]ourt must ascertain the intention of the legislature.” *Kerr v. State*, 345 S.C. 183, 188, 547 S.E.2d 494, 496 (2001). “In interpreting a statute, ‘the court must give the words their plain and ordinary meaning without resorting to a tortured construction which limits or expands the statute’s operation.’” *State v. Bull*, 350 S.C. 58, 61, 564 S.E.2d 351, 353 (Ct. App. 2002) (quoting *State v. Dickinson*, 339 S.C. 194, 199, 528 S.E.2d 675, 677 (Ct. App. 2000). “If a statute’s language is plain and unambiguous, and conveys a

clear and definite meaning, there is no occasion for employing rules of statutory interpretation and the court has no right to look for or impose another meaning. Where a statute is ambiguous, however, [a court] must construe the terms of the statute according to settled rules of construction” *Grant v. City of Folly Beach*, 346 S.C. 74, 79, 551 S.E.2d 229, 231 (2001).

The question is whether the Old Code requires a minimum of three sites to be actively leased or whether the sites must be offered to be leased. The Board and Circuit Court correctly interpreted the ordinance to require the parcel to be planned and improved for the placement of three or more manufactured homes. The homes are required to be used as residential dwellings. The home sites to be leased and the lessee will retain customary leasehold rights, as opposed to the home sites being conveyed in fee simple and/or used for commercial purposes. Appellant wrongly relies on an incorrect interpretation of the definition of Manufactured Home Community under the Old Code in which Appellant believes at least three of the sites must be actively leased at all times. Otherwise, after a year of only two of three sites being leased, the grandfathered use would be abandoned, and the lessees would face eviction.

A Manufactured Home Community was defined in the Old Code as:

A parcel of land planned and improved for the placement of three or more manufactured homes for the use as residential dwellings where home sites within the development are leased to individuals who retain customary leasehold rights.

Code of Ordinances for Beaufort County, Section 106-1098 (as amended by Ord. No. 2014/2, 1-13-2014)

The definition requires sites to be planned and improved for the placement of three or more manufactured homes, but does not require the actual leasing of the sites. Appellant’s contention that the Manufactured Home Community use requires more than one site to be leased is incorrect. The leasing portion of the definition is forward looking with the sites have to be planned and

improved so the sites can be leased in the future. The definition simply requires that there must be at least three sites planned and improved and those sites shall be for the placement of manufactured homes. The definition then provides that the manufactured homes should be for residential use and are to be leased to individuals with customary leasehold rights. The Board correctly interpreted the Manufactured Home Community use definition and ruled accordingly. The latter part of the sentence “where home sites within the development are leased to individuals who retain customary leasehold rights” simply describes the contemplated property interest of the planned and improved sites which differentiate the site from being held in fee simple by the occupying individual.

Appellant suggests the correct interpretation would be to require at least three mobile home sites to actually be leased at all times. However, Appellant’s interpretation ignores the “or more” portion of the Old Code. Appellant’s interpretation would require all sites available for lease to be leased. If the community had 100 sites (“or more”), then all 100 sites would have to always be leased. This would require a community to have a vacancy rate of 0 percent to maintain the legal, non-conforming use. If the community had only 99 sites leased, then according to Appellant’s interpretation, the legal, non-conforming use of the property would be abandoned, and 99 homes would have to be evicted due to an annual vacancy rate of 1%. Appellant’s interpretation would lead to draconian and absurd results.

## **II. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY CONSIDERED EVIDENCE THAT WAS CLEARLY IN THE CERTIFIED RECORD FILED WITH THE TRIAL COURT**

The Circuit Court correctly found there was sufficient evidence in the Certified Record to support the Board’s decision, including that the legal, non-conforming use of the Park Property was not abandoned and continues to be a legal, non-conforming use of the Park Property. (R. p. 1)

“A reviewing court in a zoning case may rely on uncontroverted facts which appear in the record, but not in a zoning board’s findings.” *Vulcan Materials Co. v. Greenville County Bd. Of*

*Zoning Appeals*, 342 S.C. 480, 491 536 S.C. 892, 897 (Ct. App 2000). “The factual findings of the Board must be affirmed by the Circuit Court if they are supported by any evidence and not influenced by an error of law.” *Stanton*, 317 S.C. at 502, 455 S.E.2d at 172 (1995). “It is well-settled that ‘the factual findings of the jury will not be disturbed unless a review of the record discloses that there is **no evidence** which reasonably supports the jury’s findings.’” *Austin v. Bd. of Zoning Appeals*, 362 S.C. 29, 33, 606 S.E.2d 209, 211 (Ct.App.2004) (emphasis added). Section 6-29-840 provides that “[t]he findings of fact by the board of appeals must be treated in the same manner as a finding of fact by a jury, and the court may not take additional evidence.”

The Circuit Court properly considered evidence on which the Board relied and which is contained in the Certification of Record on Appeal filed by the County and testimony of Robert Sample.

Testimony provided at the Board Hearing and submitted by Mr. Sample to the Board for its consideration is replete with factual support. On appeal to the Circuit Court, the Beaufort County Zoning Administrator filed the Certification of Record on Appeal. Contained in the Certification is a (a) a compact disk that contains a video of the Board Meeting from November 21, 2019 which includes the Board Hearing<sup>3</sup>; (b) the December 19, 2019, Notice of Decision; (c) the minutes from the Board meeting which includes the Hearing;<sup>4</sup> (d) excerpts from Zoning & Development Standards Ordinance – Table 106-1098 – Manufactured Home Community Definition; (e) Staff Recommendations dated November 13, 2019; (f) a Letter from Staff to Mr. Thomas Taylor – Date of Hearing dated October 29, 2019; (g) Receipt of payment, Printout of Tax Records; (h) ZBOA – Administrative Appeal Application with justification; (i) Exhibits from Mr.

---

<sup>3</sup> The video link of the November 21, 2019, Zoning Board of Appeals meeting is: [https://beaufort.granicus.com/player/clip/4592?view\\_id=15](https://beaufort.granicus.com/player/clip/4592?view_id=15).

<sup>4</sup> The minutes from the November 21, 2019 Board meeting were subsequently adopted by vote at the next Board meeting. No amendments to the Minutes were made.

Thomas Taylor dated October 23, 2019; (j) Email from Mr. Eric Greenway to Mr. Robert Sample, Administrative Interpretation dated September 24, 2019; (k) Email from Mr. Robert Sample to Mr. Eric Greenway – Ball Park Rent Rolls dated August 26, 2019; and (l) Email from Mr. Robert Sample to Mr. Eric Greenway – Ball Park Road Mobile Home Park dated July 24, 2019.<sup>5</sup> (R. pp. 76-181)

Contained within the Administrative Appeal Application with justification (“Application”) filed with the Board were four exhibits. Exhibit 1 contained financial records of Mr. Pope reflecting his rental payments (unlabeled); Exhibit 2 is a plat of one of the properties demonstrating the placement of seven of the nine home sites; Exhibit 3 is an email from Mr. Sample to Henry Moss of SCANA requesting a history of service to the individual home sites; and Exhibit 4 the Beaufort County tax records showing the property as of 2019 with a “Property Class Code” of “ComImp MobileHomePark.” (R. pp. 110-166) The tax records also include a portion labeled “Improvements.” (R. p. 166) Under a column labeled “Use Code Description,” the tax records list the property as “Mobile Home Park-Ms” and under the column labeled “Improvement Size” the number “7” appears, which is presumably the number of home sites Beaufort County recognized as existing in the “mobile home park.” (R. p. 166)

The Minutes of the Board Hearing, along with the video of the meeting and the testimony Mr. Sample offered to the Board during the Board Hearing, was considered by the Circuit Court. At no time during the Board Hearing was Mr. Sample’s testimony objected to nor any evidence presented which conflicted with his testimony. (See, generally, R. pp. 81-86) During Mr. Sample’s testimony as reflected in the Minutes, Mr. Sample detailed the steps he had taken to continue the legal, non-conforming use. For example, Mr. Sample testified to the Board:

---

<sup>5</sup> The July 24, 2019, email referenced in the Certification begins with a reply email of August 14, 2019, from Mr. Greenway to Mr. Sample’s July 24, 2019 email.

“Up until I got shut down, what I had done up to that point was, I was poking around trying to find my infrastructure with a mini excavator and that’s when I got the call to stop. I had an electrical contractor come out to check the viability of the stands, I had No Cuts come out to identify the lines, I had SCE&G come out and I had Beaufort Jasper come out. I do not have public water but I have a well. I had different contractors to come out to check the lines and utilities.”

(R. p. 83)

Mr. Sample also described the current state of the community. (R. pp. 82-84) In response to a question from a board member asking if Mr. Sample had repaired the septic tanks, Mr. Sample responded, “I haven’t made any repairs, the septic tanks are pretty good; I was trying to identify where they were.” (R. p. 83) When asked how many home sites Mr. Sample had, he replied “[i]ts nine or ten.” (R. p. 83). In response to another board member’s question of “[h]ow many of those nine or ten sites do you believe are not suitable for repair or usage,” Mr. Sample replied “[t]he stands have to be repaired. When the previous owner removed the homes, they messed up the stands.” (R. p. 83) Clearly, Mr. Sample’s testimony was consistent with the sites being available when the stands were repaired or new stands installed.

The record is replete with evidence presented to and considered by the Board and was subsequently included in the Certification filed with the trial court; no new evidence was presented to the trial court.

### **III. EVIDENCE PRESENTED AT THE HEARING AS REFLECTED IN THE CERTIFIED RECORD ON APPEAL FILED WITH AND CONSIDERED BY THE BOARD REASONABLY SUPPORTED THE DECISION OF THE BOARD**

The Circuit Court properly found that the Board’s decision was neither arbitrary nor capricious, and that the Board did not abuse its discretion in reversing Greenway’s determination. “An abuse of discretion occurs when a trial court’s decision is unsupported by the evidence or controlled by an error of law.” *Newton*, 396 S.C. at 117, 719 S.E.2d at 285 (Ct. App. 2001) (*quoting*

*Cnty. of Richland*, 348 S.C. at 668, 560 S.E.2d at 904 (Ct. App. 2002)). “The factual findings of the Board must be affirmed by the Circuit Court if they are supported by any evidence and not influenced by an error of law.” *Stanton v. Town of Pawleys Island*, 317 S.C. 498, 502, 455 S.E.2d 171, 172 (1995).

The CDC requires that the Planning Director consider several factors in determining whether abandonment of a particular use has occurred:

1. If Steps have been taken by the property owner to resume the non-conforming use;
2. If utility services such as water, gas, and electricity to the property have been disconnected;<sup>6</sup>
3. If equipment or fixtures necessary for the operation of the non-conforming use have been removed; if signs advertising the non-conforming use have been removed;
4. If business licenses for the non-conforming use have expired or not been renewed;
5. If activities generally associated with the non-conforming use are no longer observed on the property; and
6. Other actions which, in the opinion of the Director, demonstrate an intention of the part of the owner to abandon the non-conforming use.

(R. pp. 5, 75)

The Park Property continued to have water service and sanitary sewer service to the individual home sites. Although many of the sites did not have active electrical accounts, the property continued to have an active electrical account which continuously provided power to the on-site well system which in turn, provided water service to the sites, including Mr. Pope’s. (R. pp. 169-170, 180)

Mr. Sample had taken steps to continue the legal, non-conforming use of the property. Mr. Sample detailed to the Board the steps he had begun to take to continue the non-conforming use of the property. Mr. Sample testified:

---

<sup>6</sup> It should be noted that the list of “utility services” is not an exhaustive list and fails to address a very important “utility” sanitary sewer, which each home site is improved with individual septic systems.

“Up until I got shut down, what I had done up to that point was, I was poking around trying to find my infrastructure with a mini excavator and that’s when I got the call to stop. **I had an electrical contractor come out** to check the viability of the stands, **I had No Cuts come out** to identify the lines, **I had SCE&G come out** and **I had Beaufort Jasper come out**. I do not have public water but I have a well. I had different contractors to come out to check the lines and utilities.”

(R. p. 83) (emphasis added)

Mr. Sample testified the property maintained several utility services. Greenway failed to consider the existing water and sanitary sewer services as improvements to the Park Property. He focused wrongly on whether each site was actively connected to electricity, while ignoring that the utility services connect to the property. Mr. Sample testified that existing water was provided through an onsite well and sanitary sewer was provided by existing and functioning septic systems. (R. p. 83) It is undisputed the property continued to have electrical service; a SCANA representative emailed Mr. Sample in response to Mr. Sample’s request for account information for each site, stating two sites maintained active service through the date of the email. The property continued to have common utility services provided: water by a well, sanitary sewer via septic systems, and active electrical service to the property. (R. p. 83)

The Board received, and the Circuit Court properly considered, evidence and correctly determined that the Park Property continued to meet the requirements of Section 106-1098 and that the legal, non-conforming use was never abandoned. Activities generally associated with the Manufactured Home Community use continue to be observed on the property. The evidence presented to the Board included a plat showing the locations of the “pads,” rent rolls showing the leasing of one of the nine sites to Mr. Pope, the admission by Mr. Greenway that Mr. Pope resides on the site, communications from SCE&G as to the current and prior electrical status, and testimony from Mr. Sample that the sites had water and sanitary sewer available. Also evidencing

the continued activity of the property as a manufactured home community is the email from SCANA indicating 89 Ball Park has had continual electrical service from July 1994 to the date of the email. (R. pp. 169-170) When asked how many sites were not in suitable repair for usage, Mr. Sample indicated the only issue with the sites was the condition of the “stands” for the placement of incoming homes, which could be easily repaired. (R. p. 83) Additionally, the real property tax records that the County continued to describe the Park Property as a manufactured housing site. (R. pp. 208-209) The evidence presented and elicited by the Board clearly addressed the abandonment criteria.

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